
  Page 1 of 9 

 
 

RFP No. 1-14-C111 
Enterprise Business Innovation Technical Services (eBITS) 

for the 
Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority 

 
Questions and Answers 
 
Notice: Questions may have been edited for clarity and relevance. 
 
1. Will MWAA permit the experiences of LDBE personnel and their subcontractors if the LDBE 

FIRM does not have contractual past performances?  

Corporate past performance (Criterion 1) and Key Personnel Experience and Qualifications 
(Criterion 3) are unique evaluation criterion for each Service Area; see RFP Attachment(s) 03-
06.  

2. Could the LDBE requirement be replaced by a 100% MBE requirement?  
The Airports Authority does not have a MBE/WBE program, which is why the MBE/WBE 
participation is voluntary. The LDBE program is the Airports Authority’s official small 
business participation program. The requirement is for 100% LDBE participation. 

3. We’d like to request a 2 weeks extension.  

There will not be an extension of the deadline for proposals. 

4. Is this a new requirement or is an incumbent providing the services? 

This is a new requirement; all qualified LDBE firms are encouraged to respond. 

A. Who is the incumbent and what was the award amount and period of performance from 
last award?  
See Answer to previous question. 

B. Where is the place of performance? 
Refer to RFP; Page V-5, Paragraph 16. 

C. What is the current number of Contractors working this? 
Not applicable, see answer to Q4. 

D. Who is the current incumbent doing the work? 
Not applicable, see answer to Q4. 
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E. Is there a page limit? 
Refer to RFP, Attachment(s) 03-06 for submittal requirements for each Service Area; there 
is a (15) page limit for the Technical Proposal for each Service Area submitted. 

F. Must a resume be provided for each personnel or only for the key personnel? 
Resumes are only required for Key personnel as defined in RFP Section VII-13 Paragraph 
27. Reference: RFP Attachment 01, Statement of Work – Page 21, Section V: “Copies of 
Key Personnel Certifications and resumes must be provided”; note these may be included 
in the Exhibits portion of the proposal and are not required to be included in the (15) page 
limit. 

G. Is this solicitation a recompete or has there been add-ons? 
See answer to Q4. 

H. Are Letters of Intent from the prospective employees required for submission, or simply 
the proposed resume/candidate? 
See answer to Q4F. 

I. What is the contract period?  
The Airports Authority anticipates a (1) year base contract with (2) one year options.  Refer 
to RFP SectionVII-4 Paragraph 16 – Initial period of performance is 365 days from award.  
Refer to RFP Section VII-20 Paragraph 44 – the maximum period of performance shall not 
exceed (3) years. 

J. Will you allow telecommute for some of the work? 
See answer to Q4B. 

K. Do we have to be LDBE certified prior to submitting the proposal? 
Offerors must be LDBE certified prior to contract award; firms that are eligible may still 
propose as they work through the certification process.  

5. Are we only allowed to use subcontractors who are also LDBE? Or will we be able to 
subcontract a non LDBE firm to do a minor portion of the work? 

This solicitation requires 100% LDBE participation; that means that only LDBE firms may 
participate in performing the work (both as prime contractor and all subcontractors). 

6. Will partnering an LDBE team with a large local area business satisfy the requirement in the 
RFP? 

See answer to Q5. 

7.  We’d like to request a one (1) week extension for the proposal submittal.  

See answer to Q3. 

8. Can we submit a proposal for only some of the Service Areas or do we need to submit for all 
Service Areas? 

Offerors may submit a proposal for (1) or more Service Areas in which they qualify; Offerors 
are not required to submit to ALL Service Areas. 
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9. Does the Authority wish to have all Service Area write-ups within 1 binder under separate tabs 
or in separate binders? 

Refer to RFP, Attachment 02, Page 3; each Service Area response is required to be submitted 
separately. 

10. Would the Authority prefer to have each Service Area proposal in a separate binder or simply 
under separate tabs in the same binder? 

See answers to Q8 and Q9. 

11. Does the Authority wish to have an electronic file submitted along with the hard copy? If so, 
is there a preferred media (i.e., CD, USB drive) and format (e.g., PDF) 

Refer to RFP, Section III-1, the Price Schedule should be submitted both electronically and 
hard copy, in a separate package. Refer to RFP, Attachment 02, Page 3 – General Evaluation 
Criteria: 

• Envelope 1 – Representation Package – (1) hard copy original and (1) Copy is required. 

• Envelope 2 - Price Proposal, (1) original and (1) copy, and (1) electronic copy is 
required. 

• Envelope(s) 3A – 3D: For each Service Area being proposed, the Offeror will provide (1) 
original and (5) copies, in hard format per the instructions provided. 

12. Is the past performance write-ups included in the 15-page limit? If not, please clarify what the 
Authority considers exhibits and samples of previous work. 

Past Performance narratives should be included in the Technical proposal within the (15) 
page limit and are a core evaluation criterion; samples of past performance solutions may be 
included in the Exhibits portion of the proposals. 

13. For Past Performance, does the Authority wish to have simply 3 references listed in the 
provided table per Service Area or also descriptive write-ups of the work performed? 

Corporate Past Performance (Criterion 1) and Key Personnel Experience and Qualifications 
(Criterion 3) are unique evaluation criterion for each Service Area; see RFP Attachment(s) 03-
06. Offerors should include narratives in their technical proposals that describe their 
corporate and Key personnel capabilities. Samples of work and resumes may be included in 
the Exhibits portion of the proposal. 

14. If there are a minimum of 3 past performance write-ups required, will the Authority consider 
making them not included in the 15 page limit per Service Area? 

See answer to Q13. 

15. Who does the Authority consider as the target customers using the CRM solution? Are they 
Concessioners? Other Vendors? Airlines? Travelers? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 
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16. What are the 8 Websites the Authority is targeting to consolidate, and what are their Web 
links? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

17. Is the Authority looking to bring all functionality from the existing Website to Mobile Web or 
only some of it? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

18. Who will need training on the management of the new site? What technical level of knowledge 
will these personnel already have? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

19. Is the CMS going to have different management roles with different access levels? If so, how 
many access levels will the contractor expect to support? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

20. What level of integration will the contractor expect to support with regards to CRM? What 
data specifically will need integration? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

21. Will integration be one-way or will both systems (CMS and CRM) feed information to each 
other? Can you also describe the type of information to be shared? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

22. How many systems are anticipated to pull data from the Website? What types of data will be 
pulled and what is the desired format? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

23. How many systems do you anticipate will be feeding the Website? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

24. Can you clarify the way-finding environment and the requirements of this environment?  

a. Does the Authority anticipate it to work internally within the airport terminals or the main 
airport where there may be clear site of GPS?  

b. Is this expected to be a part of a web application or need to work in an offline mode?  

c. Is this a part of the initial website consolidation effort as discussed in the pre-proposal 
meeting or in a later phase? 

Specific way-finding requirements will be provided upon contract award; the Airports 
Authority anticipates using GPS and other technologies to solution for this requirement. 
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25. What communication gateways is the Authority looking to implement? Messenger? Blogs? 
Newsletters? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

26. Will the solution be hosted within the Airport or on a third-party cloud solution? 

A hybrid cloud solution is anticipated. 

27. For the Business Intelligence Service Area, will there be a specific number of reports to 
create? What types of reports are they? Ad-hoc? Templates? Real-time dashboards? 

These requirements would be outlined in a Task Order. 

28. Have dimensions been identified to measure the different data sets? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

29. How many systems will be feeding the data warehouse? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

30. Do the data sources hold similar data that may need to be dedupped or scrubbed?  

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

a. Are there APIs required to be utilized or developed to access this data source or will there 
be direct back-end access? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

31. What is the range of data required in a data mart versus archived? 1 year? 2 years? 3 years 
worth of data? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

32. Is there an existing user interface for reporting? If so, what is the technology? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

33. For the proposed Intranet solution, is there a need to have any connection with the CRM or 
CMS? If so, please define the needs or requirements. 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

34. For the Intranet solution, what are the external systems sources, if any, needed to feed the 
data? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

35. On selection of the companies for each of the Service Areas, what is the award basis for 
individual task orders? 

Task orders will be competed amongst the Offerors who have been awarded the Service Area. 
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36. How many groups or stakeholders will be involved in the re-design of the Website, which is 
currently spread across 8 Websites (as stated in the pre-proposal conference)? Is there a 
need to interact with an entire team or would there be a single body for decision making 
process? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

37. Is it possible to extend the due date of this solicitation by one week?  

See answer to Q3. 

38. For any functional area, do we need to propose key personnel for all the labor categories 
mentioned in the RFP? 

Key personnel are identified by the Offeror for each Service Area to demonstrate staff 
competencies. 

39. Can we propose key personnel who have not been a part of the projects mentioned in the firm 
references (Past Performance Section of the response)? 

See answer to Q13; in addition, Key personnel are not required to have performed on 
referenced Corporate Past Performance projects. 

40. Do the proposed key personnel for any functional area also need to be exclusive from the 
ones who are working/have worked with MWAA? 

Key personnel are evaluated within each Service Area based on their relevant qualifications 
and experiences. Ref SOW Attachment(s) 01-04. 

41. Can a Prime use the subcontractor experience as a past performance reference? 

Yes, Past Performance references can be derived from a partnering arrangement; although, 
all partners must qualify as an LDBE; in addition, the Past Performance contracts must 
unique (for example, partners who worked on the same contract cannot count that reference 
as (2) unique references).  

42. Does a subcontractor need to be MWAA certified LDBE as well? Or being an MBE/WBE would 
suffice? How would the voluntary 75% MBE/WBE goal be fulfilled? 

See answer to Q2. 

Can you further explain the revenue generating activities you plan to incorporate into the new 
website?  

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

a. Are you providing CPC or PPC ad space on the website for airport vendors?  

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

b. Are you expecting web advertising expertise out of the vendor that wins the website 
development portion of this project? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 
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43. Do you have a current social media plan? What internal staff is responsible for social media? 
How do you envision this new website fitting in with your current social media efforts? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

44. How will the new CRM system be used? Who is the customer and how will information about 
them be gleaned/generated? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

45. What is your plan for ensuring the success of your proposed customer loyalty program and 
conditioning airport customers to use the MWAA website in this new way? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

46. Will internal staff be responsible for creating content for the new website(s) and mobile app or 
are you expecting content development expertise out of the vendors who win this contract? 

Content will be managed by MWAA exclusively.  

47. Is it acceptable to have multiple past performances from a single customer? 

Ref Attachment(s) 02-06, Criterion 1: Past Performance: the (3) non-Authority Past 
Performance references, for each Service Area, must be from (3) unique and relevant 
contracts regardless of customer.  

48. Will MWAA consider providing a modest extension to the RFP Proposal Due Date?  

See answer to Q3. 

49. Offerors shall provide at least three (3) references relevant to CRM work (Each Service Area). 
Does this mean three different customers (individuals) from one CRM project or three 
different CRM projects (for Each Service Area)? 

See answer to Q48. 

50. What does ECM mean in the Subject Matter Expert key personnel category in SA2 

ECM – “Enterprise Content Management” 

51. How many of the labor categories for each Service Area mentioned in the RFP are required to 
be key and how many does the vendor has the option to (can) bid as Key? 

See answer to Q38. 

52. Do the 15 pages include cover page and index page or not? 

Yes; although Exhibits are not. 

53. Would past performances be part of 15 pages limit? 

See answer to Q13. 
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54. How many pages should one past performance be? 

Each Offeror should determine the content of their technical proposal. 

55. Would the option years of an existing Contract be considered separate past performances (as 
each option year award is dependent on excellent performance of the previous year 
contract)? 

See answer to Q48; Past Performance references must be unique contracts, option years 
would not qualify as being unique in this context. 

56. Is Executive Summary part of the 15 pages limit? 

An executive summary is not an explicit requirement, but if included, it would need to be 
included within the (15) page limit. 

57. Will MWAA allow a week extension for RFP submissions? 

See answer to Q3. 

58. Is MWAA expecting: 

a.  Names of experts with experience and certifications in the 15 pages and resumes as 
separate attachments  

Or  

b. Is MWAA expecting one paragraph on each and a separate resume as attachment for each 
resource?  

See answer to Q13 and Q55. 

c. Would a table with names and labor category be sufficient in the 15 page response since 
MWAA will have access to their resume as separate attachment? 

See answer to Q13 and Q55. 

59. How many pages can be the resumes- 2 pages maximum? 

Resumes may be included in the Exhibits and do not have a page limit. 

60. Can the same Key Personnel be submitted across Service Areas as needed? 

See answer to Q40; Offerors are not prohibited from using Key Personnel in multiple Service 
Areas. 

61. Would the Authority prefer that past performances and resumes exhibits appear within the 15 
pages, but be clearly marked as exhibits or may we include these items as Appendices so that 
it is easier for the Authority to determine that an Offeror is within page count? 

See answer to Q13; Exhibits are referential documents that are not included in the technical 
proposal or it’s associated (15) page limitation. 
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62. Does the Airport Authority have a current reporting environment? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

63. Is this for a new, comprehensive design or a 'revamping' of current systems? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

64. What is the Airport Authority's current BI environment? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

65. What is the source for the financial, operational and personnel data? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

66. How many users do you expect to use the reporting environment? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

67. What percentage of users do you see: 
- Running pre-built reports? 
- Creating ad-hoc reports? 
- Performing predictive analysis? 
- Accessing operational or executive dashboards? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

68. What type of predictive analytics do you have in mind for this system? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

69. Do you have a need for executive or operational dashboards? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

70. Do you have a need to schedule reports for refresh at some pre-defined interval? 

This is not relevant to the RFP response. 

71. Will MWAA consider opening the subcontracting to Non - LDBE vendors?  Is a 30 day 
extension possible to provide a quality proposal? 

No extension. No change to LDBE requirement; all team members must qualify as LDBE.  
Proposals will be evaluated based on criterion outlined in the RFP. 


